

Nothing in this act shall be construed to reduce the amount of any benefits received by any person receiving on the effective date of this act a service pension or other retirement benefits paid by any volunteer firefighters' relief association or any independent nonprofit firefighting corporation retirement plan or subsidiary relief association.

Sec. 46. EFFECTIVE DATE. This act is effective July 1, 1979.

Approved May 25, 1979.

---

CHAPTER 202—S.F.No.1328

*An act relating to labor; authorizing commissioner of labor and industry to seek restraining orders against certain violators of child labor laws; amending Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 181A.08, by adding a subdivision.*

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MINNESOTA:

Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 181A.08, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 3. The commissioner or his authorized representative may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for an order restraining the violation of an order issued by the commissioner pursuant to subdivision 2, or for an order enjoining and restraining violations of chapter 181A or regulations adopted pursuant to section 181A.09.

Sec. 2. This act is effective on the day following final enactment.

Approved May 25, 1979.

---

CHAPTER 203—S.F.No.1351

*An act relating to metropolitan government; providing for financing of metropolitan sports facilities; authorizing a revised site determination and establishing conditions for issuance of bonds; changing certain provisions relating to the powers and duties of the metropolitan council and sports facilities commission; providing for appointment of members of the metropolitan sports facilities commission; exempting events sponsored at the metropolitan sports center from the three percent admission tax; providing expedited court procedures; limiting use of the highway user tax distribution fund; authorizing local taxes; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1978, Sections 473.553, Subdivisions 2 and 4; 473.556, Subdivisions 4, 6, and 7; 473.581, Subdivisions 2, 3, as amended, 4, as amended, and 5, as amended; 473.595, Subdivision 1, and by adding a subdivision; and Chapter 473, by adding sections.*

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

## BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MINNESOTA:

Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Chapter 473, is amended by adding a section to read:

**[473.572] REVISED FINAL DETERMINATION.** Subdivision 1. Notwithstanding any final determination reached by the commission on or before December 1, 1978, pursuant to section 473.571, subdivision 6, the commission shall make a revised determination on a sports facility or sports facilities which facility or facilities (1) may be covered, (2) may include use of the existing or a remodeled metropolitan stadium for baseball, and (3) shall be located in Hennepin County. The decision shall be made within 30 days after the effective date of this act. In making its decision the commission may rely on data previously submitted and reviewed pursuant to section 473.571 and need not require new data even if modifications are made in an alternative previously considered. The commission shall give full consideration to the needs of the University of Minnesota when making its revised determination.

Subd. 2. Except as provided in this section, the council shall make all determinations required by section 473.581, subdivision 3, before it authorizes the issuance of bonds.

Subd. 3. It is the intent of the legislature that the commission shall, to the maximum extent possible consistent with the provisions of section 473.581, subdivision 3, impose rates, rentals and other charges in the operation of the sports facility which will make the sports facility self supporting so that the taxes imposed under section 11 will be at the lowest possible rate consistent with the obligations of the political subdivision levying those taxes as provided in sections 473.551 to 473.595.

Sec. 2. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.553, Subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. **MEMBERSHIP.** The commission shall consist of six members, appointed by the governor during the period before substantial completion of construction of sports facilities pursuant to sections 473.551 to 473.595 and thereafter as hereinafter provided, plus a chairman appointed as provided in subdivision 3. Initial appointments of members shall be made within 30 days of May 17, 1977. One member shall be appointed from each of the following combinations of metropolitan commission precincts defined in section 473.141, subdivision 2: A and B; C and G; D and E; F and H. Two members shall be appointed from outside the metropolitan area. Upon substantial completion of construction of the sports facility, vacancies occurring on the commission, whether at the completion of or prior to the completion of a member's term, shall be filled by the city council of the city in which the stadium is located.

Sec. 3. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.553, Subdivision 4, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. **QUALIFICATIONS.** Each member appointed prior to substantial completion of construction of a sports facility constructed pursuant to sections 473.551 to

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by strikeout

473.595 shall be a resident of the precincts or area of the state for which he is appointed ~~and~~. A member appointed at any time shall not during his term of office hold the office of metropolitan council member or be a member of another metropolitan commission or hold any judicial office or office of state government. Each member shall qualify by taking and subscribing the oath of office prescribed by the Minnesota Constitution, Article V, Section 6. The oath, duly certified by the official administering it, shall be filed with the chairman of the metropolitan council.

Sec. 4. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.556, Subdivision 4, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. **EXEMPTION OF PROPERTY.** Any real or personal property acquired, owned, leased, controlled, used, or occupied by the commission for any of the purposes of sections 473.551 to 473.595 is declared to be acquired, owned, leased, controlled, used and occupied for public, governmental, and municipal purposes, and shall be exempt from taxation by the state or any political subdivision of the state, provided that such properties shall be subject to special assessments levied by a political subdivision for a local improvement in amounts proportionate to and not exceeding the special benefit received by the properties from the improvement. No possible use of any such properties in any manner different from their use under sections 473.551 to 473.595 at the time shall be considered in determining the special benefit received by the properties. All assessments shall be subject to final confirmation by the council, whose determination of the benefits shall be conclusive upon the political subdivision levying the assessment. The provisions of this subdivision, insofar as they require exemption or special treatment, shall not apply to any real property at the metropolitan sports area which is leased by the commission for development pursuant to subdivision 6.

Sec. 5. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.556, Subdivision 6, is amended to read:

Subd. 6. **DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY.** The commission may sell or otherwise dispose of any real or personal property acquired by it which is no longer required for accomplishment of its purposes. The property shall be sold in the manner provided by section 458.196, insofar as practical and consistent with sections 473.551 to 473.595. Real property at the metropolitan sports area (not including the indoor public assembly facility and adjacent parking facilities) which is no longer needed for sports facilities shall be sold or leased for commercial or industrial development in accordance with the procedures in section 458.196 within two years to a private, for-profit entity, and thereafter the property shall be subject to all applicable taxes and assessments and all government laws, regulations and ordinances bearing on use and development as if the property were privately owned. The proceeds from the sale of any real property at the metropolitan sports area shall be paid to the council and used for debt service.

Sec. 6. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.556, Subdivision 7, is amended to read:

Subd. 7. **CONTRACTS.** The commission may contract for materials, supplies, and equipment in accordance with section 471.345, except that the commission may employ

**Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by strikeout**

persons, firms, or corporations to perform one or more or all of the functions of architect, engineer, construction manager, or contractor for both design and construction, with respect to all or any part of a project to build or remodel sports facilities. ~~Such employment~~ Contractors shall be selected through the process of public bidding, provided that it shall be permissible for the commission to narrow the listing of eligible bidders to those which the commission determines to possess sufficient expertise to perform the intended functions. Any ~~such person, firm, or corporation~~ construction manager or contractor shall certify, before the contracts are finally signed, a construction price and completion date to the commission and shall post a bond in an amount at least equal to 100 percent of the certified price, to cover any costs which may be incurred over and above the certified price, including but not limited to costs incurred by the commission or loss of revenues resulting from incomplete construction on the completion date. The commission shall secure surety bonds as required in section 574.26, securing payment of just claims in connection with all public work undertaken by it. Persons entitled to the protection of the bonds may enforce them as provided in sections 574.28 to 574.32, and shall not be entitled to a lien on any property of the commission under the provisions of sections 514.01 to 514.16.

Sec. 7. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.581, Subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. **PROCEDURE.** The bonds shall be sold, issued, and secured in the manner provided in chapter 475 for bonds payable solely from revenues, except as otherwise provided in sections 473.551 to 473.595, and the council shall have the same powers and duties as a municipality and its governing body in issuing bonds under that chapter. The bonds may be sold at any price and at public or private sale as determined by the council. They shall be payable solely from tax and other revenues referred to in sections 473.551 to 473.595, shall not be a general obligation or debt of the council or of the commission, and shall not be included in the net debt of any city, county, or other subdivision of the state for the purpose of any net debt limitation, provided that nothing herein shall affect the obligation of any political subdivision to levy a tax pursuant to an agreement made under the provisions of section 11. No election shall be required. The principal amount shall not be limited except as provided in subdivision 3.

Sec. 8. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.581, Subdivision 3, as amended by Laws 1979, Chapter 26, Section 1, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. **LIMITATIONS.** The principal amount of the bonds issued pursuant to subdivision 1, clause (a), shall not exceed the amounts hereinafter authorized. If the commission's proposal and the construction contracts referred to in clause (g) of this subdivision provide for the construction of a covered multipurpose sports facility, the total cost of constructing the facility under the construction contracts, not including costs paid from funds provided by others, and the principal amount of bonds issued pursuant to subdivision 1, clause (a), shall be limited to \$55,000,000. If the commission's proposal and the construction contracts do not provide for the construction of a cover on a proposed multipurpose sports facility and the commission does not otherwise contract for the construction or acquisition of a cover for the sports facility, the principal amount shall be limited to \$42,000,000. ~~If the site for the facility is in the county of Anoka, no more~~

**Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by strikethrough**

than \$3,000,000 of additional bonds may be issued for land acquisition, clearance, relocation and legal costs referred to in clauses (d) and (e) of this subdivision in connection with the construction of a multi-purpose stadium. If the commission's proposal and the construction contracts provide for the construction of a new sports facility for football and soccer and for remodeling the existing metropolitan stadium for baseball, the principal amount shall be limited to \$37,500,000. If the commission's proposal and the construction contracts provide for the reconstruction and remodeling of the existing metropolitan stadium as an uncovered multipurpose sports facility, the principal amount shall be limited to \$25,000,000. The bonds issued pursuant to subdivision 1, clause (a), shall bear an average annual rate of interest, including discount, not in excess of 7-1/2 percent. The proceeds of the bonds issued pursuant to subdivision 1, clause (a), shall be used only for the acquisition and betterment of sports facilities suitable for baseball, football and soccer, with a seating capacity for football and soccer of approximately 65,000 persons. The council shall issue its bonds and construction of sports facilities may commence when the council has made the following determinations:

(a) The commission has executed agreements with major league professional baseball and football organizations to use its sports facilities for all scheduled regular season home games and play-off home games and, in the case of the football organization, for at least one-half of its exhibition games played each season. The agreements shall be for a period of not more than 30 years nor less than the term of the longest term bonds that in the council's judgment it may find it necessary to issue to finance the acquisition and betterment of the commission's sports facilities. The agreements may contain provisions negotiated between the organizations and the commission which provide for termination upon conditions related and limited to the bankruptcy, insolvency, or financial capability of the organization. The agreements shall provide that, in the event of breach of the agreements, the defaulting organization shall pay damages annually to the commission. The annual payment shall be in an amount equal to the annual average of all revenue derived by the commission from attendance at events and activities of the defaulting organization during the years prior to default, provided that the damages shall not exceed in any year an amount sufficient, with other revenues of the commission but excluding proceeds of the taxes under section 11, to pay all expenses of operation, maintenance, administration, and debt service for the facilities used by the defaulting organization during the same year. The damages shall be payable during the period from the occurrence of the default to the date on which another major league professional baseball or football organization, replacing the defaulting organization, enters into a use agreement with the commission for not less than the then remaining term of the original agreement. The agreements with the teams shall provide that no closed circuit or pay television broadcasting of events in the sports facility may be allowed without the approval of the commission. The agreements shall include provisions protecting the commission and the council in the event of change in ownership of the professional teams.

(b) The commission has executed agreements with professional baseball and football major leagues which guarantee the continuance of franchises in the metropolitan area for the period of the agreements referred to in clause (a).

(c) The proceeds of bonds provided for in this subdivision will be sufficient,

**Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by strikethrough**

together with other capital funds that may be available to the commission, to construct or remodel and to furnish the sports facilities proposed by the commission, including the appropriate professional fees and charges but excluding, except as otherwise provided in this subdivision, the acquisition, clearance, relocation, and legal costs referred to in clauses (d) and (e).

(d) The commission has acquired, without cost to the commission or the council except as provided in this subdivision, title to all real property including all easements and other appurtenances needed for the construction and operation of any proposed sports facilities or has received a grant of funds or has entered into an agreement or agreements sufficient in the judgment of the council to assure the receipt of funds, at the time and in the amount required, to make any payment upon which the commission's acquisition of title and possession of the real property is conditioned.

(e) The commission has received a grant of funds or entered into an agreement or agreements sufficient in the judgment of the council to assure the receipt of funds, at the time and in the amount required, to pay all costs, except as provided in this subdivision, of clearing the real property needed for the construction and operation of any proposed sports facilities of all buildings, railroad tracks and other structures, including without limitation all relocation costs, all utility relocation costs, and all legal costs.

(f) The commission has executed agreements with appropriate labor organizations and construction ~~contractor organizations~~ contractors which provide that no labor strike or management lockout will halt, delay or impede construction.

(g) The commission has executed ~~contracts~~ agreements which will provide for the construction of its sports facilities for a certified construction price and completion date and which include performance bonds in an amount at least equal to 100 percent of the certified price to cover any costs which may be incurred over and above the certified price, including but not limited to costs incurred by the commission or loss of revenues resulting from incomplete construction on the completion date.

(h) The environmental impact statement for the sports facility or facilities has been accepted by the environmental quality board, and the pollution control agency and any other department, agency, or unit of government have taken ~~final action to approve or deny any permits necessary for~~ the actions necessary to permit the construction of the sports facility or facilities.

(i) At least 50 percent of the private boxes provided for in the commission's proposal for the sports facility or facilities are sold or leased for at least five years.

(j) The anticipated revenue from the operation of the sports facility or facilities plus any additional available revenue of the commission and the revenue from the taxes under section 11 will be an amount sufficient to pay when due all debt service plus all operating and maintenance expenses; ~~unless the proposed facility is a covered multipurpose sports facility, in which case the aforementioned revenues need only be an amount sufficient to pay when due all debt service plus a substantial portion of all administration, operating and maintenance expense.~~

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

(k) The commission has studied and considered the needs of the university of Minnesota for athletic facilities for a prospective 20 year period.

(l) The municipality where the facility is to be constructed has entered into an agreement as contemplated in section 11.

(m) The commission has entered into an agreement or agreements with a purchaser or purchasers of tickets of admission for a period of not less than 20 years which will assure that, if the professional football organization cannot comply with the provisions of section 473.568, whenever more than 90 and less than 100 percent of the tickets of admission for seats at any professional football game, which were available for purchase by the general public 120 hours or more before the scheduled beginning time of the game either at the sports facility where the game is to be played or at the box office closest to the sports facility, have been purchased 72 hours or more before the beginning time of the game, then all of such tickets which remain unsold will be purchased in sufficient time to permit the telecast to areas within the state which otherwise would not receive the telecast because of the terms of an agreement in which the professional football league has sold or otherwise transferred all or part of the rights of the league's member organizations in the sponsored telecasting of games of the organizations. The party or parties agreeing to the purchase of such unsold tickets shall be obligated for a period of at least 20 years in an amount determined by the council to be sufficient to assure the purchase of all such unsold tickets. An agreement or agreements satisfying the requirements of this clause shall free the professional football organization from the prohibition otherwise imposed on it by section 473.568.

(n) The council has entered into an agreement with the brokerage firm or brokerage firms to be used in connection with the issuance and sale of the bonds guaranteeing that fees and charges payable to the brokerage firm or firms in connection therewith, including any underwriting discounts, shall not exceed fees and charges customarily payable in connection with the issuance and sale of bonds secured by the pledge of the full faith and credit of the municipality in which any new sports facility is to be located.

The validity of any bonds issued under subdivision 1, clause (a), and the obligations of the council and commission related thereto, shall not be conditioned upon or impaired by the council's determinations made pursuant to this subdivision. For purposes of issuing the bonds the determinations made by the council shall be deemed conclusive, and the council shall be and remain obligated for the security and payment of the bonds irrespective of determinations which may be erroneous, inaccurate, or otherwise mistaken.

Sec. 9. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.581, Subdivision 4, as amended by Laws 1979, Chapter 26, Section 1, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. **SECURITY.** To the extent and in the manner provided in ~~section~~ sections 11 and 473.595, the taxes described in section 11, the tax and other revenues of the commission described in section 473.595, and any other revenues of the commission shall be and remain pledged and appropriated for the payment of all necessary and reasonable

**Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by strikeout**

expenses of the operation, administration, maintenance, and debt service of the commission's sports facilities until all bonds referred to in section 473.564, subdivision 2, and all bonds and certificates issued pursuant to this section are fully paid or discharged in accordance with law. The revenue bonds and interest thereon referred to in section 473.564, subdivision 2, may be refunded, whether at a lower or a higher rate of interest, by the issuance of new bonds pursuant to subdivision 1, clause (b), for the purpose of pledging revenues of the metropolitan sports area for the payment and security of bonds issued hereunder, and the council may provide that a portion of the new bonds shall be payable solely from the interest earnings derived from the investment of the bond proceeds. Until these revenue bonds are fully paid or the council's obligation thereon is discharged in accordance with law they shall be deemed a first and prior charge on those revenues and shall be secured by all provisions of the revenue bond resolution and the ownership and operations agreement. Bonds issued pursuant to this section and bonds referred to in section 473.564, subdivision 2, may be secured by a bond resolution, or by a trust indenture entered into by the council with a corporate trustee within or outside the state, which shall define the tax and other revenues pledged for the payment and security of the bonds. The pledge shall be a valid charge on the tax and other revenues referred to in sections 473.551 to 473.595 from the date when bonds are first issued or secured under the resolution or indenture and shall secure the payment of principal and interest and redemption premiums when due and the maintenance at all times of a reserve securing such payments. No mortgage or security interest in any tangible real or personal property shall be granted to the bondholders or the trustee, but they shall have a valid security interest in all tax and other revenues received and accounts receivable by the commission or council hereunder, as against the claims of all other persons in tort, contract, or otherwise, irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof, and without possession or filing as provided in the uniform commercial code or any other law. In the bond resolution or trust indenture the council may make such covenants, which shall be binding upon the commission, as are determined to be usual and reasonably necessary for the protection of the bondholders. No pledge, mortgage, covenant, or agreement securing revenue bonds may be impaired, revoked, or amended by law or by action of the council or, commission, or city, except in accordance with the terms of the resolution or indenture under which the bonds are issued, until the obligations of the council thereunder are fully discharged.

Sec. 10. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.581, Subdivision 5, as amended by Laws 1979, Chapter 26, Section 1, is amended to read:

Subd. 5. **REVENUE ANTICIPATION CERTIFICATES.** At any time or times after approval by the council and final adoption by the commission of an annual budget of the commission for operation, administration, and maintenance of its sports facilities, and in anticipation of the proceeds from the taxes under section 11 and the revenues of the commission provided for in the budget, but subject to any limitation or prohibition in a bond resolution or indenture, the council may authorize the issuance, negotiation, and sale, in such form and manner and upon such terms as it may determine, of revenue anticipation certificates. The principal amount of the certificates outstanding shall at no time exceed 25 percent of the total amount of the tax and other revenues anticipated. The certificates shall mature not later than three months after the close of the budget year. Prior to the approval and final adoption of the first annual budget of the commission, the

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

council may authorize up to \$300,000 in revenue anticipation certificates under this subdivision. So much of the anticipated tax and other revenues as may be needed for the payment of the certificates and interest thereon shall be paid into a special debt service fund established for the certificates in the council's financial records. If for any reason the anticipated tax and other revenues are insufficient, the certificates and interest shall be paid from the first tax and other revenues received, subject to any limitation or prohibition in a bond resolution or indenture. The proceeds of the certificates may be used for any purpose for which the anticipated revenues of ~~the commission or taxes~~ may be used or for any purpose for which bond proceeds under subdivision 1 may be used, provided that the proceeds of certificates issued after the ~~first issuance of bonds under subdivision 1, clause (a) effective date of this act~~, shall not be used to pay capital costs of sports facilities constructed or remodeled pursuant to sections 473.551 to 473.595.

Sec. 11. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Chapter 473, is amended by adding a section to read:

**[473.592] TAX REVENUES. Subdivision 1. LOCAL SALES TAX.** Upon designation of a location for a sports facility pursuant to section 1, the municipality in which the facility is to be located may enter into an agreement with the metropolitan council and the commission which requires the municipality to impose a sales tax, supplemental to the general sales tax imposed in chapter 297A, for the purposes and in accordance with the requirements specified in sections 473.551 to 473.595. The tax may be imposed on the gross receipts from all retail on-sales of intoxicating liquor and fermented malt beverages when sold at licensed on-sale liquor establishments and municipal liquor stores located within the municipality, or on the gross receipts from the furnishing for consideration of lodging for a period of less than 30 days at a hotel, motel, rooming house, tourist court, or trailer camp located within the municipality, or on both. The agreement between the municipality, the metropolitan council, and the commission shall require the municipality to impose the tax or taxes at whatever rate or rates may be necessary to produce revenues which are determined by the council from year to year to be required, together with the revenues available to the commission, to pay when due all debt service on bonds and revenue anticipation certificates issued under section 473.581, all debt service on bonds referred to in section 473.564, subdivision 2, and all expenses of operation, administration, and maintenance of the sports facilities. The agreement shall provide for the suspension, reimposition, reduction, or increase in tax collections upon determination by the metropolitan council that such actions are appropriate or necessary for the purposes for which the tax is imposed, provided that the balance in the debt service fund or funds, including any reserve for debt service, shall be maintained at least at an amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest on bonds which will become due within the next succeeding one year period and, except as otherwise provided by agreement, shall not be maintained at an amount greater than that required to pay principal and interest on bonds which will become due within the next succeeding two year period. The agreement shall be executed by the city, after approval by resolution of the city council and before the issuance of the bonds under section 473.581 and commencement of construction, and shall constitute a contract with and for the security of all holders of the bonds and revenue anticipation certificates secured by the tax. A sports facility shall not be constructed or remodeled in a municipality which has not entered into an agreement in accordance with this section. The tax shall be reported and

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by strikethrough

paid to the commissioner of revenue with and as part of the state sales and use taxes, and shall be subject to the same penalties, interest, and enforcement provisions. The collections of the tax, less refunds and a proportionate share of the costs of collection, shall be remitted at least quarterly to the metropolitan council. The commissioner of revenue shall deduct from the proceeds remitted to the council an amount that equals the indirect statewide costs as well as the direct and indirect department costs necessary to administer, audit, and collect this tax. The amount deducted shall be deposited in the general fund of the state. The proceeds remitted shall be placed, together with the net revenues of the commission under section 473.595, into the debt service fund or reserve or special funds, established under section 473.581, and any funds established to secure payment of operating deficits of the commission. The proceeds may be used for payment of debt service on bonds and revenue anticipation certificates issued under section 473.581, debt service on bonds referred to in section 473.564, subdivision 2, and expenses of operation, administration, and maintenance of the sports facilities. The proceeds shall not be used for any capital costs of sports facilities constructed under sections 473.551 to 473.595, except that the proceeds may be used to pay interest on bonds during the construction period.

Subd. 2. METROPOLITAN LIQUOR TAX. All proceeds of the liquor tax collected by the council pursuant to the provisions of Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.591, prior to August 1, 1979, not otherwise expended or applied as provided in chapter 473, together with any earnings derived from the investment of such revenues, may be used for any purpose for which the tax revenues under subdivision 1 may be used.

Sec. 12. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.595, Subdivision 1, is amended to read:

473.595 **COMMISSION FINANCES. Subdivision 1. ADMISSION TAX.** Effective January 1, 1978, the commission shall by resolution impose a three percent admission tax upon the granting, sale, or distribution, by any private or public person, association, or corporation, of the privilege of admission to activities; except for those activities sponsored by ~~nonprofit organizations and conducted~~ at the indoor public assembly facility at the metropolitan sports area known as the metropolitan sports center. Commencing with the operation of sports facilities constructed or remodeled by the commission pursuant to sections 473.551 to 473.595, the commission shall impose an additional seven percent admission tax upon activities conducted at such sports facilities. Effective January 1, 1978, no other tax, except the taxes imposed by chapter 297A, may be levied by any other unit of government upon any such sale or distribution. The admission tax shall be stated and charged separately from the sales price so far as practicable and shall be collected by the grantor, seller, or distributor from the person admitted and shall be a debt from that person to the grantor, seller, or distributor, and the tax required to be collected shall constitute a debt owed by the grantor, seller, or distributor to the commission, which shall be recoverable at law in the same manner as other debts. Every person granting, selling, or distributing tickets for such admissions may be required, as provided in resolutions of the commission, to secure a permit, to file returns, to deposit security for the payment of the tax, and to pay such penalties for nonpayment and interest on late payments, as shall be deemed necessary or expedient to assure the prompt and uniform collection of the tax.

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by strikeout

Sec. 13. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 473.595, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 7. SALE OF SEATS. The commission may sell seats in any multipurpose sports facility constructed after June 30, 1979 at prices and subject to conditions consistent with this section. Ownership of a seat shall give the owner first preference for purchase of a season ticket of admission for professional sports exhibitions with a right to be seated in the owned seat. An owner may sell or otherwise transfer his rights on whatever terms he chooses. Rights to a seat may not be divided. No fee may be charged for a transfer of ownership of a seat. The commission may charge a maintenance fee not exceeding \$10 per year for each seat.

Sec. 14. [473.596] ACCESS STREETS AND HIGHWAYS, HIGHWAY USER TAX DISTRIBUTION FUND. So long as the tax imposed pursuant to article XIV, section 10, of the Minnesota Constitution is at or below the rate fixed by law on January 1, 1979, no money derived from the highway user tax distribution fund shall be used to construct, relocate, or improve any streets, highways, or other public thoroughfares, except ones included in the municipal state aid street system established pursuant to article XIV, section 4, if such work is done in order to provide or improve access to a new sports facility constructed pursuant to sections 473.551 to 473.595. The commissioner of transportation shall determine whether expenditures are in violation of this section.

Sec. 15. [473.597] JURISDICTION, VALIDITY OF LAWS 1979, CHAPTER 203. Pursuant to article VI, section 2 of the Minnesota Constitution the supreme court shall have original jurisdiction of any action brought or maintained in which an issue is presented as to the validity of a provision of sections 1 to 14 of this act, and may hear and determine the issue as provided in title V of the rules of civil appellate procedure, after notice given as provided in rule 144.

Sec. 16. This act is effective the day following final enactment in the counties of Anoka, Carver, Dakota, Hennepin, Ramsey, Scott, and Washington.

Approved May 25, 1979.

---

CHAPTER 204—H.F.No.99

*An act relating to criminal procedure; providing immunity from liability for peace officers who make good faith domestic assault arrests; amending Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 629.341.*

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MINNESOTA:

Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1978, Section 629.341, is amended to read:

629.341 PROBABLE CAUSE ARRESTS; DOMESTIC VIOLENCE; IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY. Subdivision 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of section 629.34 or

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~